# **MEETING OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES**

OF THE

# **UNIVERSITY OF ILLINOIS**

JULY 12, 1922



The July meeting of the Board of Trustees of the University of Illinois was held at the Blackstone Hotel, in Chicago, at 10 a. m. on Wednesday, July 12, 1922.

When the Board convened, the following members were present: President Abbott, Mrs. Busey, Mrs. Evans, Mrs. Grigsby, Mr. Herbert, Mr. Hoit, Mr. Trimble. Mrs. Blake and Dr. Noble came later.

# MINUTES APPROVED

The Secretary presented the minutes of the meetings of May 26 and June 13, 1922.

On motion of Mrs. Evans, the minutes were approved as printed on pages 213 to 289 above.

I

### MATTERS PRESENTED BY PRESIDENT KINLEY

The Board considered the following matters presented by the President of the University.

### CEMENT PURCHASED FOR STADIUM

(1) A report that at the request of the Athletic Association, through Mr. George Huff, the President of the Board has authorized the Association to enter into a contract to purchase the cement for the Stadium, the terms of the contract having been approved by the Building Committee. The contract is with the Universal Portland Cement Company for approximately 30,000 barrels of cement, at a price of \$2.52 a barrel, F. O. B. car Champaign, with a reduction of 40c a barrel for the return of the sacks, and with 10c a barrel cash discount.

This request was considered at a meeting of the Executive Committee held in Champaign, on Wednesday, June 14, and was approved. This report was received for record.

# WORK IN JOURNALISM

(2) A request for authority to proceed as may seem best with the matter of establishing a department or a school of Journalism (see page 257, May 26, 1922).

On motion of Mr. Hoit, this authority was granted.

# CHANGE IN CURRICULUM IN INDUSTRIAL EDUCATION

(3) A recommendation, approved for the Senate by the Council of Administration, that in the curriculum in industrial education the requirement in the teaching subject be made twenty-five semester hours instead of fifteen semester hours, as at present.

This recommendation was approved.

# BACHELOR OF SCIENCE IN LAW

(4) The University Senate, on recommendation of the faculty of the College of Law and the Senate Committee on Educational policy, recommends the establishment of a four-year course leading to the B. S. degree in Law, the course to be a combination of our work in the College of Liberal Arts and Sciences or the College of Commerce and the College of Law, and the proposed curriculum of courses to be in accordance with established policy. I recommend the approval.

On motion of Mrs. Grigsby, this recommendation was concurred in.

At this point, Dr. Noble took his place with the Board.

#### CHANGES IN LABORATORY FEES

(5) The following changes in laboratory fees have been recommended and duly approved by all concerned and are submitted with the recommendation that they be approved.

### Civil Engineering

С.Е. 30			 \$1.00
34 · ·			 
35			 1.00
36 (f	ormerly 7	6)	 1.00
53			 1.50
58			 I.25
60			 I.00
73 (f	ormerly 8	3)	 2.00
82		•••••••••	 2.00
85	••••		 2.50
88			 1.00

#### UNIVERSITY OF ILLINOIS

90 1.50
92
93 I.50
95 I.00
Entomology
Introductory Entomology—1\$1.00
General Entomology-2 1.00
Entomology 22 1.50
Entomology 12 1.50
Entomology 14
Entomology 107
Farm Mechanics
Farm Mechanics 1\$2.50
Farm Mechanics 3 2.00
Farm Mechanics 19 i and j 8.00
Farm Mechanics 20 1.50
Farm Mechanics 28 2.50
Home Economics
Home Economics 5
Mechanical Engineering
M.E. 71\$3.00
73 2.50
77 3.50
79 2.00
81 3.00

These fees were approved.

### RESIGNATION OF DEAN OF COLLEGE OF LAW

(6) Dean H. C. Jones, of the College of Law, on June 30 wrote me: "I hereby resign as Professor of Law and Dean of the College of Law, effective September I, 1922." I accepted this resignation and report my action for record.

This report was received for record.

### APPOINTMENT OF DEAN A. J. HARNO

(7) A recommendation that Professor A. J. Harno be appointed Dean of the College of Law, for one year, beginning September 1, 1922, at a salary of six thousand dollars.

On motion of Mrs. Evans, this appointment was made.

# APPOINTMENT OF DEAN KETCHUM

(8) A report that, by authority of the Executive Committee, the President of the University had appointed Professor Milo S. Ketchum to succeed Dean Richards as Dean of the College of Engineering and Director of the Engineering Experiment Station, at a salary of \$8,000 a year, beginning September 1, 1922.

This report was received for record.

### HALF-TIME APPOINTMENT ON LEAVE OF ABSENCE FOR PROFESSOR J. A. DETLEFSEN

(9) A recommendation that Dr. J. A. Detlefsen, Professor of Genetics in the Department of Animal Husbandry, whose present appointment expires August 31, 1922, be given an appointment for one year, beginning September 1, 1922, at one-half his present salary, on leave of absence, this to conclude his services with the University, in recognition of his ten years' service without a break.

On motion of Mr. Trimble, this recommendation was concurred in.

### APPROPRIATION FOR CONCRETE PAVEMENTS IN THE ARTILLERY STABLES

(10) On request of Major T. J. Camp, Acting Commandant, approved by Professor White, I recommend that an appropriation of \$4000 from the Reserve and Contingent Fund be made to build concrete passageways in the artillery stables.

On motion of Mrs. Evans, this appropriation was made. The vote was as follows: Aye, Mr. Abbott, Mrs. Busey, Mrs. Evans, Mrs. Grigsby, Mr. Herbert, Mr. Hoit, Mr. Noble, Mr. Trimble; no, none; absent, Mr. Blair, Mrs. Blake, Mr. Small.

### HONORARIUM FOR WARREN K. MOOREHEAD

(11) Dr. Warren K. Moorehead, of the Museum of Phillips Academy, Andover, Massachusetts, has given about four months of his time to the University in directing the explorations of the Cahokia Mounds. As a result, the University has received some very valuable additions to its Museum collections. Dr. Moorehead undertook the work because of his scientific interest in it. I recommend that he be paid an honorarium of five hundred dollars for his services, from the Reserve and Contingent Fund.

On motion of Mr. Noble, this recommendation was approved, by the following vote: Aye, Mr. Abbott, Mrs. Busey, Mrs. Evans, Mrs. Grigsby, Mr. Herbert, Mr. Hoit, Mr. Noble, Mr. Trimble; no, none; absent, Mr. Blair, Mrs. Blake, Mr. Small.

### APPROPRIATION FOR HOSPITAL EQUIPMENT

(12) On request of the committee in charge, I recommend that an appropriation of \$3500, or so much thereof as may be necessary, be made for the purchase of equipment needed for the student hospital, and recommended by the hospital committee, the amount to be taken from the surplus fund on hand from hospital operations of the University year just closed, and that the balance of the surplus be converted into general University funds.

On motion of Mrs. Evans, these recommendations were approved, by the following vote: Aye, Mr. Abbott, Mrs. Busey, Mrs. Evans, Mrs. Grigsby, Mr. Herbert, Mr. Hoit, Mr. Noble, Mr. Trimble; no, none; absent, Mr. Blair, Mrs. Blake, Mr. Small.

### EDITORSHIP "CHICAGO ALUMNI RECORD"

(13) A recommendation that Mr. Carl Stephens be paid one thousand dollars for his services as editor of the Chicago Alumni Record, and that an appropriation of that amount be made for that purpose from the Reserve and Contingent Fund.

On motion of Mrs. Busey, this recommendation was approved, by the following vote: Aye, Mr. Abbott, Mrs. Busey, Mrs. Evans, Mrs. Grigsby, Mr. Herbert, Mr. Hoit, Mr. Noble, Mr. Trimble; no, none; absent, Mr. Blair, Mrs. Blake, Mr. Small.

### COLLEGE PLACE LOTS

(14) The Comptroller reports that in accordance with the action of the Board he has carried out your instructions concerning the purchase of lots owned by Miss Sherfy in College Place. The owners were willing to allow us to anticipate an extra payment which we have the opportunity of making every two months, and in order to solidify our control, I agreed that this should be done and ask for an appropriation of \$14,500 from the Reserve and Contingent Fund to cover this extra payment. On motion of Mr. Trimble, this appropriation was made. The vote was as follows: Aye, Mr. Abbott, Mrs. Busey, Mrs. Evans, Mrs. Grigsby, Mr. Herbert, Mr. Hoit, Mr. Noble, Mr. Trimble; no, none; absent, Mr. Blair, Mrs. Blake, Mr. Small.

### FURTHER PURCHASE OF LOTS IN COLLEGE PLACE

(15) In accordance with your instructions, I have negotiated for the purchase of other property in College Place, and now request an appropriation of \$9450 to pay for lots 31, 110, 116, 117, and 118, five in all.

On motion of Mr. Herbert, this action was approved and the appropriation was made. The vote was as follows: Aye, Mr. Abbott, Mrs. Evans, Mrs. Grigsby, Mr. Herbert, Mr. Hoit, Mr. Trimble; no, Mrs. Busey, Mr. Noble; absent, Mr. Blair, Mrs. Blake, Mr. Small.

# REPORT OF THE STADIUM EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

(16) The following report from Mr. C. J. Rosebery, Stadium Manager:

For the Executive Committee of the University of Illinois Memorial Stadium, I wish to report that such Committee held a meeting on Thursday, June 29, 1922, 10 a.m., at the offices of Holabird & Roche, Architects, Chicago;

That the latest sketches showing the group and ground plans for the Stadium including a large charcoal perspective of one of the Stadium Stands, a model of the ramps, and various detail sketches were presented by Mr. John Holabird;

That the Committee approved the design providing for two stands, incorporating within the stands the double colonnade or promenade, such columns to be known as the memorial feature of the Stadium, as shown in the perspective; also that the Architects be instructed to call for an alternate bid placing approximately 96 columns in a colonnade detached from the Stadium to serve as an approach.

I further report that the Committee refused to accept the suggested resignation of Mr. H. S. Capron as a member of this Executive Committee.

The Committee approved contract entered into on June 14th with Stipes & Hecker of Champaign to furnish all the Portland cement required by the purchaser, estimated at 30,000 bbls. at \$2.52 per bbl. in cloth sacks or \$2.07 in bulk, to complete the construction of the Stadium, to be delivered in car lots f.o.b. Champaign or Urbana; shipments to be made between September I, 1922, and January I, 1924, not to exceed 3,000 bbls. in September, 3,000 bbls. in October, 1922, except at sellers option; the balance to be shipped on instructions from purchaser and as required by the progress of the work.

Terms of payment: Net cash 30 days or 10c per bbl. discount for cash in 10 days from date of invoice.

Contract provided that should the Company's market price in effect at delivery point named be reduced below the price named herein, a like reduction will be mada an all company of the contract during the time cush lower price in the in effect.

The Architects expect to have plans and specifications ready for the contractors on July 19 and it is hoped that contract can be awarded three weeks later with the possibility of building operations commencing during the last week in August or early September.

This report was received for record.

# CHANGES AND FURNISHINGS-DAVENPORT AND STEBBINS HOUSES

(17) The Supervising Architect requests the following appropriations for making the necessary changes in the Davenport and Stebbins houses and for equipping and

### BOARD OF TRUSTEES

furnishing the same for the use of young women students. I recommend that these appropriations be made from the Reserve and Contingent Fund as follows: 1. Davenport House

General furnishing	\$3,500.00
Remodeling	1,800.00
Connecting steam heat	1,300.00
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	

\$6,600.00

2. Stebbins House

General furnishing\$1	,400.00
Remodeling	900.00
Connecting steam heat	700.00

\$3,000.00

On motion of Mrs. Evans these appropriations were made. The vote was as follows: Aye, Mr. Abbott, Mrs. Busey, Mrs. Evans, Mrs. Grigsby, Mr. Herbert, Mr. Hoit, Mr. Noble, Mr. Trimble; no, none; absent, Mr. Blair, Mrs. Blake, Mr. Small.

# APPROPRIATION TO MEET CHARGES ON PROPERTY PURCHASED

(18) The Comptroller requests an appropriation of \$5,442 to meet charges on properties acquired by the University. I recommend that this appropriation be made.

On motion of Mr. Trimble, this appropriation was made, by the following vote: Aye, Mr. Abbott, Mrs. Busey, Mrs. Evans, Mrs. Grigsby, Mr. Herbert, Mr. Hoit, Mr. Noble, Mr. Trimble; no, none; absent, Mr. Blair, Mrs. Blake, Mr. Small.

### FEES IN MUSIC

(19) A recommendation that certain regulations governing fees in the School of Music, adopted April 12, 1922 (see page 183), be amended to read as follows:

1. That a special fee of \$25 a semester be charged for instruction in applied music of students *enrolled* in the School of Music or in the course in music education in the College of Education, beginning September 1, 1922.

2. That a special fee of \$25 a semester be charged for one half-hour lesson a week in applied music through the semester, of all students enrolled in other colleges of the University who are taking collegiate work in applied music; and that a special fee of \$10 a semester be charged all students enrolled in other colleges of the University who are taking introductory work in applied music, beginning September 1, 1922.

On motion of Mrs. Evans, these amendments were approved.

### INCREASE IN TELEPHONES

(20) The Supervising Architect requests permission to increase the number of Bell telephones from 112, as previously authorized, to 122. I recommend approval.

This request was approved.

At this point Mrs. Blake took her place with the Board.

# PROPOSED BUILDING PROGRAM

(21) I recommend for tentative approval the following list of buildings for submission in our next budget to the Legislature:

- 1. Library Building and Equipment......\$750,000
- 2. Woman's Residence Hall and Equipment..... 250,000

5. Agricultural Building and Equipment...... 400,000

. . . . . . \$2,400,000

Total.... This schedule provides \$250,000 more for the proposed Library Building and Equipment than was asked for two years ago. The delay has made it imperative to put up a larger unit of the building than would have been necessary if we had secured the money asked for at the last session of the General Assembly. No building is more imperatively needed than a new Library. Every department of the University is suffering because of the crowded conditions of our Library. Educational progress is retarded. I feel that the importance of this matter can not be over-emphasized. Whatever else is done, it is imperative that this building be secured.

We need a second Woman's Residence Hall, similar to that existing hall on Nevada Street. This can be duplicated for the amount indicated,

I am suggesting a men's Gymnasium with equipment, for several reasons. In the first place, the College of Engineering needs more laboratory space. The building formerly used as an Armory, now known as the "Gym Annex" is admirably suited for the work of an Electrical Engineering Laboratory. Similarly, the so-called "Engine Room Annex," the brick addition made to the old Armory during the war and used as an engine room laboratory the old Armory during the war and used as an engine room laboratory for students in aviation, is admirably suited for the work of the Engineers. One at least of these is needed by the Engineers. We have the choice of constructing a large new laboratory for the engineers or of freeing these two build-ings and equipping them wholly or partly for their use. I think the latter method is preferable for several reasons. In the first place, the military work is now half a mile or more away from the Gymnasium. The proposed Stadium will be in the neighborhood of the Armory. The men's Gymnasium should be in the prox-imity of both these buildings. The work in physical education and athletics will therefore be served by erecting a new Gymnasium in the neighborhood of the Armory; and the work of the College of Engineering will be served by securing the use of the buildings referred to above now used as gymnasiums. The proposed use of the buildings referred to above, now used as gymnasiums. The proposed arrangement, I think, is the most economical that could be proposed, and would

be as satisfactory from a service point of view as any other arrangement. A Commerce Building with equipment is proposed, for several reasons. In the first place, the present building is wholly inadequate, on account of the in-crease in the number of students in the College of Commerce and Business Administration. They have multiplied more than four times since the present building was erected. In the second place, the students in the Arts and Sciences need the classrooms in the present Commerce Building. If they can not get these, it will be necessary to erect a new general classroom building somewhere on the campus. The purposes of both Colleges will be better served by erecting a new building for the College of Commerce, south of the Auditorium, vacating the present building for general classroom use, and taking care of any overflow in the new Commerce Building.

In accordance with the general policy which I have outlined at various times, we should make special provision each biennium for some one of the great divisions of the University, with a view to making its quarters and equipment as complete as possible. The last General Assembly gave us half a million dollars for an Agricultural classroom and office building. This needs to be supplemented with a group of buildings of a laboratory type, including cattle barns, in order to bring our equipment into a modern condition. After this is done, equivalent provision should be made for the College of Engineering. In the meantime, adequate facilities will be provided for it by the addition of one or two laboratories

1922]

in the buildings now used as gymnasiums, mentioned above. It is my present opinion that by another biennium it will be advisable to seek an appropriation for a building for architecture and kindred subjects, to be erected on the quadrangle south of the Auditorium. This will release considerable space for other departments of the College of Engineering, and will also enable us to remove such work as art and design and related subjects from their present quarters, thus easing the situation for the Arts and Sciences.

We are in sore need of a Service Building. It is possible that the program outlined above will release part of some building north of Green Street for this use. Otherwise, we shall be under the necessity of erecting such a building.

I ask tentative approval for this program, using the word "tentative" to mean that the matter will come up for final approval in the fall.

On motion of Mrs. Evans, this program was approved tentatively.

At this point, at 1 p. m., a recess was taken.

# AFTERNOON SESSION, JULY 12, 1922

When the Board convened after the recess, the same persons were present as during the morning.

Mr. Schmidt and Mr. Bentley, of the firm of Schmidt and Garden, were present.

# PLANS FOR MEDICAL LIBRARY AND LABORATORY

Mr. Schmidt presented the revised plans for the Medical Research Library and Laboratory building.

On motion of Mr. Noble, the action of the Board on April 12, 1922 (page 187), approving the plans for this building, was reconsidered.

On motion of Mrs. Blake, the action of April 12 was rescinded, and the revised plans, designated as "Scheme J, June 3," were approved and adopted, and the architects were instructed to get bids for the construction of the building.

The Board resumed its consideration of matters presented by the President of the University.

## PLOTTING ATHLETIC ASSOCIATION AND UNIVERSITY LAND

(22) I have discussed with Mr. George Huff, President of the Athletic Association, the advisability of plotting and selling the twenty acres now held by the Athletic Association between First Street and the Illinois Central Railroad, and in addition the ten acres held by the University adjoining this property on the south. The removal of our north line, west of Wright Street, from Armory Avenue towards the south would make it possible for us to get on without this property. The Athletic Association is planning an independent storm-water sewer from the Stadium recreation field, and drainage into this from these lots could be easily secured.

I request authority to take this matter up and report to the Board at a later meeting on the advisability of plotting these tracts in city lots with a view to selling them off.

On motion of Mrs. Blake, this authority was granted.

# BALANCES REAPPROPRIATED

(23) A request from Mr. Morey that the following balances from 1921-22 be reappropriated to the several departments concerned:

# 1922]

#### UNIVERSITY OF ILLINOIS

Agricultural Inquiry\$	1,858.24
Pageant of Progress	1,475.56
Patents and Inventions	1,140.02
Agricultural Revolving Funds:	
Animal Husbandry	3,932.89
Agronomy	5,105.73
Dairy	18,616.19
Home Economics	2,917.00
Smith-Lever	2,024.65
Botany	401.81
Sociology	45.74
Graduate School:	
Summer Research	225.00
Summer Session 1922	68,508.77
Education Building Equipment	7,574.30
Building Studies	3,513.11
Woman's Building Improvements	60,00000
Library Salaries (for summer cataloging)	2,000.00

# PARR PROCESS

President Kinley and President Abbott made informal reports on a conference with manufacturers in Pittsburgh who are interested in the Parr coking process.

# CONTRACTS FOR AGRICULTURE BUILDING

On motion of Mr. Herbert, the Executive Committee was authorized to open the bids and to award contracts for the construction of the new Agriculture building.

# CLINICAL FACULTY, COLLEGE OF MEDICINE

The Secretary presented for record the list of the clinical faculty of the College of Medicine, appointed July 3, 1922, by the President of the University.

# **Department of Medicine**

CHARLES SPENCER WILLIAMSON, Professor of Medicine and Head of the Department Division of Internal Medicine

CHARLES SPENCER WILLIAMSON, Professor of Medicine MAURICE LOUIS GOODKIND, Professor of Medicine FREDERICK TICE, Professor of Medicine JOSEPH MCINTURE PATTON, Professor of Medicine RATHUR RICHARD ELLIOTT, Professor of Medicine FRANK SMITHIES, Professor of Medicine EDWARD LOUIS HEINTZ, Associate Professor of Medicine MAURICE LEWISON, Associate Professor of Medicine JOHN WEATHERSON, Associate Professor of Medicine SIDNEY STRAUSS, Associate Professor of Medicine

ERNEST SISSON MOORE, Associate Professor of Medicine FRANK CHAUVET, Associate Professor of Medicine WILLIAM JOSEPH QUICLEY, Assistant Professor of Medicine JOHN CHARLES MATTHEW KRASA, Associate in Medicine WALTER BRADFORD METCALF, Associate in Medicine FRANKLIN S. WILSON, Associate in Medicine FRANK JOSEPH JIRKA, Associate in Medicine LEO JACOB JACOBSON, Instructor in Medicine LLOYD LAVERNE ELY, Instructor in Medicine FRANK MAX WITTELLE, Instructor in Medicine ELMER W. MOSLEY, Assistant in Medicine DUANE WILLARD PROPST, Assistant in Medicine ALVAH LEWIS SAWYER, Assistant in Medicine JOHN BAPTIST CIPRIANI, Assistant in Medicine JULIUS BRAMS, Assistant in Medicine FRANK RAYMOND RICHMOND, Assistant in Medicine

#### Division of Pediatrics

JULIUS HAYES HESS, Professor of Pediatrics and Head of the Division HENRY EUGENE IRISH, Associate Professor of Pediatrics MAURICE LAMM BLATT, Associate Professor of Pediatrics LESTER EDWARD BOWER, Assistant Professor of Pediatrics SOLOMON MAXWELL GOLDBERGER, Assistant in Pediatrics ISADOR MICHAEL LEVIN, Instructor in Pediatrics OSEPH K. CALVIN, Instructor in Pediatrics PHILIP ROSENBLUM, Instructor in Pediatrics MAXWELL P. BOROVSKY, Instructor in Pediatrics ROBERT LUDWICK FURBY, Instructor in Pediatrics ISRAEL L. SHERRY, Assistant in Pediatrics REINHOLD C. SCHLUETER, Assistant in Pediatrics

# Division of Neurology and Psychiatry

H. DOUGLAS SINGER, Professor of Psychiatry and Head of the Division HAIM I. DAVIS, Associate Professor of Psychiatry GEORGE BORIS HASSIN, Associate Professor of Neurology RALPH P. TRUITT, Assistant Professor of Neurology ISADOR B. DIAMOND, Assistant Professor of Neurology HAROLD STACEY HULBERT, Associate in Neurology FRANK FREMMEL, Instructor in Neurology

Division of Roentgenology

ADOLPH HARTUNG, Assistant Professor of Roentgenology Division of History of Medicine

BERNARD JOHN CIGRAND, Lecturer

### Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology

CHARLES SUMNER BACON, Professor of Obstetrics and Head of the Department

#### Division of Obstetrics

CHARLES SUMNER BACON, Professor of Obstetrics HENRY FOSTER LEWIS, Professor of Obstetrics RACHELLE S. YARROS, Associate Professor of Obstetrics OTTO HERMAN ROHRLACK, Associate Professor of Obstetrics WALTER CHARLES HAMMOND, Associate in Obstetrics ANNIE ESTHER BARRON-HARRISON, Instructor in Obstetrics HANS NACHTIGALL, Instructor in Obstetrics EUGENE CARY, Instructor in Obstetrics 1922]

PEARLIE MAE STETLER, Instructor in Obstetrics MARSHALL DANIEL HAYES, Assistant in Obstetrics EDGAR THERON BLAIR, Assistant in Obstetrics JAMES EDWARD FITZGERALD, Assistant in Obstetrics SAMUEL GLENWOOD PLICE, Assistant in Obstetrics

### Division of Gynecology

CHANNING WHITNEY BARRETT, Professor of Gynecology and Head of the Division JOHN MICHAEL LANG, Assistant Professor of Gynecology ALBERT JOHN SCHOENBERG, Associate in Gynecology FRANK LEE STONE, Associate in Gynecology LEO ANTHONY JUHNKE, Instructor in Gynecology GOLDYE HOFFMAN, Instructor in Gynecology

### Department of Surgery

CHARLES DAVISON, Professor of Surgery and Head of the Department

# Division of General Surgery

CHARLES DAVISON, Professor of Surgery ALBERT JOHN OCHSNER, Professor of Surgery ALBERT EDWARD HALSTEAD, Professor of Surgery WILLIAM MCINTIRE HARSHA, Professor of Surgery CHARLES EDWARD HUMISTON, Professor of Surgery NELSON MORTIMER PERCY, Professor of Surgery GEORGE FARNSWORTH THOMPSON, Associate Professor of Surgery KARL ALBERT MEYER, Associate Professor of Surgery FREDERICK GEORGE DYAS, Associate Professor of Surgery CASSIUS CLAY ROGERS, Associate Professor of Surgery JOHN ROSS HARGER, Assistant Professor of Surgery CHARLES HERBERT PHIFER, Assistant Professor of Surgery RAYMOND WILLIAM MCNEALY, Assistant Professor of Surgery GEORGE LUTHER DAVENPORT, Assistant Professor of Surgery ARRIE BAMBERGER, Associate in Surgery HENRY LESTER BAKER, Associate in Surgery GEORGE WASHINGTON POST, JR., Associate in Surgery ERNEST JASON FORD, Associate in Surgery RALPH CHARLES SULLIVAN, Associate in Surgery MAX MEYEROVITZ, Instructor in Surgery LYNDON HARRIS, Instructor in Surgery FREDERICK CHRISTOPHER, Assistant in Surgery VIRGIL SHEETS COUNSELLOR, Assistant in Surgery GILBERT PALMER POND, Assistant in Surgery FRANCIS TODD H'DOUBLER, Assistant in Surgery JOHN FISHER GAINER, Assistant in Surgery DORRIN FRED RUDNICK, Assistant in Surgery

# Division of Orthopedic Surgery

HENRY BASCOM THOMAS, Associate Professor of Orthopedic Surgery JOHN PERLEY SPRAGUE, Associate in Orthopedic Surgery MARCUS HATFIELD HOBART, Associate in Orthopedic Surgery THOMAS JOHN SULLIVAN, JR., Instructor in Orthopedic Surgery DENNIS R. W. CRILE, Instructor in Orthopedic Surgery FRANK GEORGE MURPHY, Instructor in Orthopedic Surgery WALTER RATHFON FISCHER, Assistant in Orthopedic Surgery

### BOARD OF TRUSTEES

[July 12,

Division of Genito-Urinary Surgery

CHARLES MORGAN MCKENNA, Associate Professor of Genito-Urinary Surgery HARRY CULVER, Assistant Professor of Genito-Urinary Surgery HARRY JEROME SMEJKAL, Instructor in Genito-Urinary Surgery RUSSELL DORR HERROLD, Instructor in Genito-Urinary Surgery VINCENT JOHN O'CONOR, Instructor in Genito-Urinary Surgery THEODORE ROSS VAN PELT, Assistant in Genito-Urinary Surgery

Division of Operative Surgery

BENJAMIN FRANKLIN LOUNSBURY, Assistant Professor of Surgery ARCHIE JAMES GRAHAM, Instructor in Operative Surgery ARTHUR R. METZ, Associate in Operative Surgery IRVING R. BROWNING, Assistant in Operative Surgery BENJAMIN BRAUDE, Assistant in Operative Surgery HOWARD LESLIE MAWDSLEY, Assistant in Operative Surgery

### Department of Ophthalmology

EDWARD VAIL LAPHAM BROWN, Professor of Opthalmology and Head of the Department

FRANCIS LANE, Professor of Ophthalmology

HARRY WOODRUFF, Professor of Ophthalmology

HARRY S. GRADLE, Assistant Professor of Ophthalmology

HALLARD BEARD, Instructor in Ophthalmology

WILLIAM FRANKLIN MONCREIFF, Instructor in Ophthalmology

BEULAH CUSHMAN, Assistant in Ophthalmology

### **Department of Dermatology**

FRANCIS EUGENE SENEAR, Associate Professor of Dermatology and Acting Head of the Department

HARRY W. FINK, Instructor in Dermatology MAX S. WIEN, Instructor in Dermatology

### Department of Social Hygiene, Criminology, and Medical Jurisprudence

HERMAN MORRIS ADLER, Professor of Criminology and Head of the Department ELMER DEWITT BROTHERS, Lecturer in Medical Jurisprudence MATTHEW MILLS, Alternate Lecturer in Medical Jurisprudence DAVID M. LEVY, Instructor in Criminology

### Department of Laryngology, Rhinology, and Otology

NORVAL HARVEY PIERCE, Professor of Laryngology, Rhinology, and Otology, and Head of the Department

JOSEPH CLAR BECK, Associate Professor of Laryngology, Rhinology, and Otology WALTER HENRY THEOBALD, Associate in Laryngology, Rhinology, and Otology EDWARD FRANCIS GARRAGHAN, Associate in Laryngology, Rhinology, and Otology JACQUES HOLINGER, Assistant Professor of Laryngology, Rhinology, and Otology CHARLES FRANCIS YERGER, Associate in Laryngology, Rhinology, and Otology

# APPOINTMENTS TO FILL VACANCIES

The Secretary presented also for record the following list of appointments made by President Kinley:

Anderson, Ahna, Assistant in Romance Languages, for ten months, beginning

September 1, 1922, at a salary of one hundred seventy dollars (\$170) a month. This appointment supersedes her previous one. (June 29, 1922)<sup>1</sup>

Anderson, C. R., Assistant in English, for ten months, beginning September 1. 1922, at a salary of one hundred fifty dollars (\$150) a month. (June 17, 1922)

Anderson, Harriett M., Assistant in the Bureau of Educational Research for twelve months, beginning September 1, 1922, at a salary of fourteen hundred dollars (\$1400). This appointment supersedes her previous one. (June 17, 1922) Arnold, E. A., Assistant in Physics, on one-half time, for ten months, beginning

September 1, 1922, at a salary of eighty dollars (\$80) a month. (June 28, 1922)

Balduf, W. V., Assistant Professor of Entomology, for three years, beginning September 1, 1922, at a salary of twenty-six hundred dollars (\$2600) a year. (June 17, 1922)

Beatty, F. M., Assistant in Accountancy, on one-half time, for ten months, beginning September 1, 1922, at a salary of sixty dollars (\$60) a month. (June 19, 1922)

Blackwell, Mary, Clerk in the Department of Chemistry, at a salary of ninetyfive dollars (\$95) a month, for one year, beginning September 1, 1922, subject to the rules of the Civil Service Commission. This appointment supersedes her previous one. (June 30, 1922)

Bordner, E. R., Assistant in Physics, on one-half time, for ten months, beginning September 1, 1922, at a salary of eighty dollars (\$80) a month. (June 26, 1922)

Brinkman, H. G. Instructor in Operative Dentistry, on one-half time, for one year, beginning September 1, 1922, at a salary of eleven hundred dollars (\$1100). This appointment supersedes his previous one. (June 27, 1922)

Brough, G. A., Assistant in Pharmacology, in the College of Medicine. for twelve months, beginning September 1, 1922, at a salary of five hundred dollars (\$500) in addition to tuition and laboratory fees. (June 16, 1922)

Buchan, L. J., Assistant in Accountancy, on one-half time, for ten months, beginning September 1, 1922, at a salary of sixty dollars (\$60) a month. (June 19, 1922)

Butler, W. G., Instructor of Federal Board Students in Agriculture, for one year, beginning September 1, 1922, at a salary of twenty-six hundred dollars (\$2600). (July 7, 1922)

Carman, G. G., Assistant in Animal Nutrition Station, in the College of Agriculture and in the Agricultural Experiment Station, for one year, beginning Septem-

ber 1, 1922, at a salary of twelve hundred dollars (\$1200). (June 27, 1922) Caudle, E. C., Assistant in Chemistry, on one-half time, for ten months, beginning September 1, 1922, at a salary of sixty dollars (\$60) a month. (June 17, 1922)

Clark, R. C., Mechanician in the Mechanical Laboratory, at a salary of one hundred twenty-five dollars (\$125) a month, for fourteen months, beginning July 1, 1922, subject to the rules of the Civil Service Commission. (June 17, 1922.)

Colvin, Esther, Library Assistant in the Catalog Department, at a salary of one hundred dollars (\$100) a month, for one year, beginning September 1, 1922, subject to the rules of the Civil Service Commission. This appointment supersedes her previous one. (June 27, 1922)

Crossman, R. S., Associate in General Engineering Drawing, for two years, beginning September 1, 1922, at a salary of twenty-four hundred dollars (\$2400) a year. This appointment supersedes his previous one. (June 20, 1922)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The date in parenthesis is the date on which the appointment was made by the President of the University.

Crouch, W. M., Laboratory Helper in Botany, at a salary of eighty-five dollars (\$85) a month, for ten months, beginning September 1, 1922, subject to the rules of the Civil Service Commission. (June 17, 1922) Davis, C. B., to give instruction in English, during the Summer Session of

1922, at a compensation of two hundred fifty dollars (\$250) for the session. This appointment supersedes his previous one. (June 26, 1922)

Doisy, Roberta, Assistant to the Keeper of Records, at a salary of one hundred twenty-five dollars (\$125) a month, for one year, beginning July 1, 1922, subject to the rules of the Civil Service Commission. (July 11, 1922) Dorsey, Edith W., House Manager and Social Director of the Davenport

Residence Hall, for ten months, beginning September 1, 1922, at a salary of seventy-five dollars (\$75) a month, in addition to board, room, and laundry in the Hall. (July 11, 1922)

Dyer, Ethel G., Assistant in English, for ten months, beginning September 1, 1922, at a salary of one hundred fifty dollars (\$150) a month. (June 17, 1922) Elfenbaum, Hyman, Instructor in Prosthetic Dentistry, for twelve months,

beginning September 1, 1922, at a salary of one thousand dollars (\$1000). (July 11, 1922)

Ets, H. N., Assistant in Pharmacology, in the College of Medicine, for twelve months, beginning September 1, 1922, at a salary of one hundred dollars (\$100) a month. (June 27, 1922)

Ford, Carlotta M., Associate in Home Economics, in the College of Agriculture, on one-third time, for one year, beginning September 1, 1922, at a salary of eight hundred dollars (\$800). This appointment supersedes her previous one. (June 29, 1922)

Fritts, E. C., Assistant in Physics, on one-fourth time, for one semester, beginning September 1, 1922, at a salary of two hundred dollars (\$200). (June 26, 1922)

Geissendoerfer, J. T., Instructor in German, for ten months, beginning September 1, 1922, at a salary of two hundred dollars (\$200) a month. (June 17, 1922)

Grisemer, Walter, Fellow in Mathematics, for the year 1922-23, beginning September 1, 1922, with a stipendium of four hundred dollars (\$400). (June 30, 1922)

Hamelink, M. H., Assistant in Zoology, on one-fourth time, for ten months, beginning September 1, 1922, at a salary of thirty dollars (\$30) a month. (June 12, 1922)

Harper, Bertha M., Secretary to the Dean of the College of Law, for one year, beginning August 1, 1922, at a salary of one hundred sixteen and two-thirds dollars (\$116.66) a month. (July 10, 1922) Harris, Lelah E., Instructor in Piano, for ten months, beginning September

1, 1922, at a salary of two hundred dollars (\$200) a month. (June 26, 1922)

Harwood, S. D., to give instruction in English, on one-half time, during the Summer Session of 1922, beginning June 19 and ending August 14, 1922, at a compensation of one hundred twenty-five dollars (\$125) for the session. (June 26, 1922)

Hatton, Marcia, Filing Clerk in the Registrar's Office, at a salary of one hundred dollars (\$100) a month, for one year, beginning September 1, 1922, subject to the rules of the Civil Service Commission. This appointment supersedes her previous one. (July 5, 1922)

Hobart, F. B., Research Assistant in Chemical Engineering, in the Engineering Experiment Station, for twelve months, beginning September 1, 1922, at a salary of eighteen hundred dollars (\$1800). This appointment supersedes his previous one. (June 19, 1922)

1922]

Hosford, Hemphill, Assistant in Mathematics, for ten months, on one-half time, beginning September 1, 1922, at a salary of sixty dollars (\$60) a month. (June 29, 1922)

Howe, Priscilla, Assistant Recorder in the Registrar's Office, at a salary of one hundred dollars (\$100) a month, for one year, beginning September 1, 1922, subject to the rules of the Civil Service Commission. (July 7, 1922)

Hunsche, Miriam, Pianist in the Department of Physical Education for Women, during the Summer Session of 1922, beginning June 19 and ending August 14, 1922, at a compensation of fifty dollars (\$50) for the session. (June 17, 1922)

Hunt, F. R., Assistant in Economics, on one-half time, for ten months, beginning September I, 1922, at a salary of sixty dollars (\$60) a month. (June 8, 1922)

Hunt, R. A., Scholar in Animal Husbandry, during the year 1922-23, with a stipendium of three hundred dollars (\$300). (June 30, 1922)

Hurst, J. W., Assistant in Mathematics, on one-half time, for ten months, beginning September 1, 1922, at a salary of eighty dollars (\$80) a month. This appointment supersedes his previous one. (June 27, 1922)

Kaufmann, W. E., Assistant in Chemistry, on one-fourth time, for ten months, beginning September 1, 1922, at a salary of thirty-five dollars (\$35) a month. (June 27, 1922)

Keller, G. E., Assistant in Chemistry, on one-fourth time, for ten months, beginning September 1, 1922, at a salary of thirty dollars (\$30) a month. (June 27, 1922)

Kennedy, Mrs. Nellie R., Library Assistant in the English Seminar, at a salary of one hundred fifty dollars (\$150) a month, for one year, beginning September 1, 1922, subject to the rules of the Civil Service Commission. This appointment supersedes her previous appointment. (June 28, 1922)

Ketcham, E. H., Assistant in Political Science, on one-half time, for ten months, beginning September 1, 1922, a a salary of eighty dollars (\$80) a month. This appointment supersedes his previous one. (June 17, 1922)

Ketchum, M. S., Dean of the College of Engineering and Director of the Engineering Experiment Station, beginning September 1, 1922, at a salary of eight thousand dollars (\$8000) a year. (June 27, 1922)

Kletzien, L. H., Assistant in Accountancy, on one-half time, for ten months, beginning September 1, 1922, at a salary of seventy dollars (\$70) a month. (June 27, 1922)

Kline, L. E., Scholar in Economics, for the year 1922-23, beginning September 1, 1922, with a stipendium of three hundred dollars (\$300). (June 30, 1922)

Kordenat, R. A., Assistant in Surgery, from June 30, 1922, to September 1, 1923, without salary. (July 3, 1922)

Little, Ethel E., Medical Adviser for Women, for one year, beginning September 1, 1922, at a salary of twenty-five hundred dollars (\$2500). (June 19, 1922)

Marple, R. P., Assistant in Accountancy, on one-half time, for ten months, beginning September 1, 1922, at a salary of sixty dollars (\$60) a month. (June 19, 1922) Marsh, H. L., Assistant in Physiological Chemistry, on one-half time, in the College of Medicine, for one year, beginning September 1, 1922, at a salary equivalent to the amount of his tuition and laboratory fees. This appointment supersedes his previous one. (June 27, 1922)

Martin, L. E., Assistant in Pharmacy, for one year, beginning September 1, 1922, at a salary of twelve hundred dollars (\$1200). (June 16, 1922)

Miller, Mrs. Elva P., Assistant in Bacteriology, for ten months, beginning September 1, 1922, at a salary of one hundred thirty dollars (\$130) a month. This appointment supersedes her previous one. (June 12, 1922)

Milton, Charles, Assistant in Geology, on one-fourth time, for five months, beginning September 1, 1922, at a salary of thirty dollars (\$30) a month. (June 27, 1922)

Montgomery, Edna M., Assistant in Chemistry, on one-fourth time, for ten months, beginning September 1, 1922, at a salary of thirty dollars (\$30) a month. (June 27, 1922.)

Munkwitz, R. C., Assistant in Dairy Production, in the Department of Dairy Husbandry, in the Agricultural Experiment Station, on one-half time, for one year, beginning September 1, 1922, at a salary of six hundred dollars (\$600). (July 5, 1922)

Nevens, W. B., Assistant Professor of Dairy Cattle Feeding and Assistant Chief in Dairy Cattle Feeding, in the Department of Dairy Husbandry, in the College of Agriculture and in the Agricultural Experiment Station, from September 1, 1922, to September 1, 1924, at a salary of three thousand dollars (\$3000) a year. This appointment supersedes his previous one. (July 3, 1922)

Parmelee, C. W., Professor of Ceramic Engineering, on indefinite tenure, and Acting Head of the Department, for one year, beginning September 1, 1922, at a salary of five thousand dollars (\$5000) a year. This appointment supersedes his previous one. (June 16, 1922)

Perry, J. S., Assistant Technician in the Laboratory of Physiological Chemistry, in the College of Medicine, for two months, beginning July 1, 1922, at a salary of seventy dollars (\$70) a month. (July 7, 1922)

Pettit, H. P., Instructor in Mathematics, for ten months, beginning September 1, 1922, at a salary of two hundred dollars (\$200) a month. This appointment supersedes his previous one. (June 27, 1922)

Pettit, H. P., to give instruction in Mathematics, during the Summer Session of 1922, beginning June 19, and ending August 14, 1922, at a compensation of two hundred dollars (\$200) for the session. (June 28, 1922)

Pierson, Pauline, Assistant in Romance Languages, for ten months, beginning September 1, 1922, at a salary of one hundred fifty dollars (\$150) a month. (July 7, 1922)

Pratt, Gladys F., General Assistant in the Library, on one-half time, for one year, beginning September 1, 1922, at a salary of six hundred sixty dollars (\$660). (June 27, 1922)

Rose, W. C., Professor of Chemistry, beginning September 1, 1922, at a salary of forty-five hundred dollars (\$4500) a year. (June 26, 1922)

Rowatt, Paul, Assistant in Accountancy on one-half time, for ten months, beginning September 1, 1922, at a salary of sixty dollars (\$60) a month. (July 11, 1922)

Saelhof, C. C., Assistant in Physiological Chemistry, in the College of Medicine, on one-half time, for fourteen and one-half months, beginning June 15, 1922, at a salary of five hundred dollars (\$500). (June 27, 1922)

Schwalbe, W. L., to give instruction in Theoretical and Applied Mechanics, on part-time, during the Summer Session of 1922, beginning June 19, and ending August 14, 1922, at a compensation of one hundred ten dollars (\$110) for the session. (June 28, 1922)

Seehausen, Paul, Instructor in the University High School, on one-half time, for ten months, beginning September 1, 1922, at a salary of seventy-five dollars (\$75) a month. (June 30, 1922)

Shackell, L. F., Associate in Pharmacology and Therapeutics, in the College of Medicine, for twelve months, beginning September 1, 1922, at a salary of two hundred twenty-five dollars (\$225) a month. (June 27, 1922)

Shaw, E. R., Assistant in Economics, on one-half time, for ten months, beginning September 1, 1922, at a salary of sixty dollars (\$60) a month. (July 3, 1922)

Shoup, Emma Mae, Assistant in the Library School, for one year, beginning September 1, 1922, at a salary of fourteen hundred dollars (\$1400). (June 27, 1922)

Sowers, H. T., Assistant in Psychology, on one-half time, and departmental clerk on one-fourth time, for ten months, beginning September 1, 1922, at a salary of ninety-five dollars (\$95) a month. (June 27, 1922)

Steimley, L. L., to give instruction in Mathematics, on one-half time, during the Summer Session of 1922, beginning June 19 and ending August 14, 1922, at a compensation of one hundred seventy-five dollars (\$175) for the session. (June 26, 1922)

Street, Florence E., Instructor in Piano and Violin, for ten months, beginning September 1, 1922, at a salary of one hundred sixty dollars (\$160) a month. (June 26, 1922)

Swanish, P. T., Assistant in Accountancy, on one-half time, for ten months, beginning September 1, 1922, at a salary of sixty dollars (\$60) a month. (July 3, 1922)

Swenson, Elsie D., Stenographer-Bookkeeper in the Alumni Records office, at a salary of one hundred dollars (\$100) a month, for one year beginning Septem-1, 1922, subject to the rules of the Civil Service Commission. (July 11, 1922)

Todd, Asia E., Associate in Home Economics Education, for twelve months, beginning September 1, 1922, at a salary of twenty-two hundred dollars (\$2200). (June 26, 1922)

Tonone, Valentine M., Assistant in Romance Languages, for ten months, beginning September 1, 1922, at a salary of one hundred forty dollars (\$140) a month. (June 27, 1922)

Tuttle, F. W., Assistant in Economics, for ten months, beginning September 1, 1922, at a salary of one hundred forty dollars (\$140) a month. (July 3, 1922)

Uyei, Nao, Assistant in Animal Nutrition Station, in the Department of Animal Husbandry, in the College of Agriculture, and in the Agricultural Experiment Station, for five months, beginning September 1, 1922, at a salary of fifty dollars (\$50) a month. This appointment supersedes his previous one. (June 27, 1922) Vance, J. G., Assistant in Romance Languages, for ten months, beginning September 1, 1922, at a salary of one hundred fifty dollars (\$150) a month. (June 17, 1922)

Van Meter, K. K., Assistant in Transportation, for ten months, beginning September 1, 1922, at a salary of one hundred fifty dollars (\$150) a month. (July 11, 1922)

Vawter, Jamison, Assistant Professor of Civil Engineering, for three years, beginning September 1, 1922, at a salary of twenty-five hundred dollars (\$2500) a year. (June 16, 1922)

Wadepuhl, Walter, Associate in German, for two years, beginning September 1, 1922, at a salary of twenty-one hundred dollars (\$2100) a year. (June 17, 1922)

Warner, Caroline, Stenographer in the office of the Dean of Men, at a salary of one hundred dollars (\$100) a month, for one year, beginning September 1, 1922, subject to the rules of the Civil Service Commission. (July 11, 1922)

Webster, G. L., Assistant in Chemistry, in the School of Pharmacy, for one year, beginning September 1, 1922, at a salary of twelve hundred dollars (\$1200). (June 16, 1922)

Wheeler, H. R., Assistant in Geology, on one-half time, for ten months, beginning September 1, 1922, at a salary of sixty dollars (\$60) a month. (June 27, 1922)

White, S. H., Assistant Professor in Landscape Gardening, in the Department of Horticulture, in the College of Agriculture, for twelve months, beginning September 1, 1922, at a salary of three thousand dollars (\$3000). (June 26, 1922)

Willey, G. S., Assistant in Agricultural Education, for twelve months, beginning September 1, 1922, at a salary of eighteen hundred dollars (\$1800). (June 17, 1922)

Wirth, E. H., Instructor in Pharmacognosy, in the School of Pharmacy, for one year, beginning September 1, 1922, at a salary of two thousand dollars (\$2000). (July 11, 1922)

Woolley, R. B., Assistant in Accountancy, on one-half time, for ten months, beginning September 1, 1922, at a salary of sixty dollars (\$60) a month. (July 3, 1922)

Wylie, C. C., Associate in Astronomy, and Acting Head of the Department, for one year, beginning September 1, 1922, at a salary of twenty-four hundred dollars (\$2400). This appointment supersedes his previous one. (June 27, 1922) The Board adjourned.

H. E. CUNNINGHAM

Secretary

W. L. Abbott President